2015

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee v. Timothy Joseph Adams,
Defendant/Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about May 8, 2015 in the Sixth Judicial District Court in Kane County, Utah, Defendant/Appellant was convicted by his admission contained in the Conditional Plea Agreement and Statement of Defendant. Record at page 335-340. His conviction by conditional plea was to the offenses of Count 1 of the Information: **PRODUCTION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE in a Drug Free Zone**, a Second Degree Felony in violation of Utah Code Ann., §58-37-

8(1)(a)(i); and Count 2 of the Information: **POSSESSION OF A CONTROLLED SUBSTANCE WITH INTENT TO DISTRIBUTE in a Drug Free Zone**, a Second Degree Felony in violation of Utah Code Ann., §58-37-8(1)(a)(iii). Record at page 335-340. Judgment and sentence were entered July 2, 2015. Record at page 344-346. Notice of Appeal was timely filed on July 9, 2015. Record at page 352-353. This appeal follows.

This appeal is from the finding of “guilty” pursuant to the Conditional Plea Agreement and Statement of Defendant. Record at page 335-340. The focus of the appeal is whether the court properly denied a motion to suppress evidence.

This is an appeal from the final judgment in the Sixth District Court of Kane County, State of Utah, sentencing the Defendant to: Count 1 (of the Information) a term of 1-15 years in the Utah State Prison, with a fine including statutory surcharge and court security fee in the amount of \$19,033.00; and Count 2 (of the Information) a term of 1-15 years in the Utah State Prison with a fine including the statutory surcharge and the court security fee in the amount of \$19,033.00. The Court suspended the prison sentence and all but \$750.00 of the fine, and placed the Defendant on probation for 36 months subject to terms and conditions. Record at page 344-351.

While jurisdiction over this appeal originates in the Utah Supreme Court, pursuant to Utah Code Annotated, §78A-3-203(2)(i) (1953 as amended), in that it

involves an appeal from a court of record in a criminal case not involving a charge of a first degree or capital felony the case was directly filed to the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to Utah Code Annotated §78A-4-103(2)(j) (1953 as amended).

The Notice of Appeal was timely filed on July 9, 2015. Record at page 352-353.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS²

At the Preliminary Hearing the investigating officer testified that at the time of the event, Mr. Adams, the Defendant, was living alone in the residence. *Prelim Transcript*³ at page 16 lines 13-16.

Mr. Adams' mother notified law enforcement that she had not heard from the Defendant for four days. *Prelim* at page 24 lines 19-21. She requested a welfare check on her son. The officer was contacted by dispatch to perform the welfare check at approximately the evening.

On March 2, 2013, Defendant's mother, Lynn Clark, called Kane County Dispatch and requested that an officer check on her son at his home in Big Water, Utah. Ms. Clark reported that she had not heard from her son in three days, that he has ongoing health issues and that she was very worried. In response, Kane

² The facts are recited largely from the Memorandum Decision issued by the trial court. In so doing the Appellant takes no issue with the recited facts. Since those facts support the trial court's decision they are appropriately stated. *Davidson*, (Citation omitted.)

³ References to the transcript of the preliminary hearing will hereafter be stated as "*Prelim.*"

County Dispatch contacted Marshall Russell Johnson of the Big Water Marshall's Office and informed him of the request for a welfare check. Because Marshall Johnson was leaving town at the time, he asked Dispatch to contact Deputy Rob Johnson of the Kane County Sheriff's Office and ask him to perform the welfare check

Deputy Johnson proceeded to Defendant's home to perform the welfare check. He knocked on the front door but no one answered. He found evidence around the home suggesting someone had recently been repairing leaky pipes under the home and working on the top of the house. There was an extension cord that powered a light running from an open window to a crawl space under the home. There were tools on top of the roof near an air conditioning unit and the area near the crawl space was moist. There were no vehicles present on the property. *Prelim* at pages 38-45.

Deputy Johnson yelled into the home but no one answered. Defendant's neighbors told the Deputy that they had not seen the Defendant for two or three days.⁴

Deputy Johnson observed there was a light on in the living room but could not see anything in the home from outside. Deputy Johnson called Defendant's mother to discuss the situation with her. Defendant's mother relayed her previous

⁴ This is a period of time less than the officer stated at the preliminary hearing.

concerns about her son to Deputy Johnson and asked him to "use whatever means necessary" to enter the home to ascertain that her son was okay.

Deputy Johnson entered the home using the open living room window. Upon entering, Deputy Johnson immediately saw what he described as several marijuana plants and a plant light. He looked around the home in places where the Defendant might have been, but could not locate him and left.

Approximately a week later, the Defendant was seen in his front yard. On March 12, 2013, the Marshall filed an affidavit and obtained a search warrant to search the home for marijuana plants. On March 12, 2013 the Marshall in company with the investigating Deputy and others executed the warrant.⁵

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Appellant had apparently not phoned his mother for four days. She became concerned for his welfare and notified law enforcement of her concern. The officers attempted to make a welfare check but got no response when they knocked on the door of his residence. They could not see the Defendant inside when they looked through a window. Neighbors reported that they had not seen the Defendant in two or three days. At the further urging of the Appellant's mother, officers entered the home without a warrant through an unlocked window.

Once inside, the officers observed what they considered to be growing

⁵ This rendition of facts is largely quoted from the Memorandum Decision, Record at page 312-318.

marijuana plants. After observing the plants, and failing to find the Defendant inside the residence, they left. Ten days later they secured and served a warrant to search the residence.

A Motion to Suppress the evidence was submitted to the Court on the basis that the warrantless search was not excused by the known exceptions to the warrant requirements under 4th Amendment jurisprudence. The Court, however, ruled that the facts of this case did qualify as an 'emergency aid doctrine' exception to the warrant requirements and denied the motion. The court was mistaken.

ARGUMENT

When police enter a private residence, they must do so with a warrant unless the entry is supported by both probable cause and exigent circumstances. *State v. Yoder*, 935 P.2d 534, 540 (Utah App. 1997). The burden to establish both probable cause and exigent circumstances is heavy particularly because of the heightened expectation of privacy enjoyed by citizens in their own homes. *State v. Larocco*, 794 P.2d 460, 470 (Utah 1990). In lieu of probable cause and exigent circumstances, our courts have recognized the emergency aid doctrine as an exception to the warrant requirements. But to protect the privacy expectation in one's home, the exceptions are strictly limited in application or availability. The elements of the emergency aid doctrine exception are clear.

In *Davidson*, the Utah Supreme Court established the three prong test for the

authorization of the emergency aid doctrine. Pursuant to that test, a warrantless search is lawful under the emergency aid doctrine only if the following requirements are met:

- (1) Police have an objectively reasonable basis to believe that an emergency exists and believe there is an immediate need for their assistance for the protection of life.
- (2) The search is not primarily motivated by intent to arrest and seize evidence.
- (3) There is some reasonable basis to associate the emergency with the area or place to be searched. That is, there must be a connection with the area to be searched and the emergency. *Davidson*, at ¶12.

The court discusses the distinctions between probable cause and the substituted 'reasonable basis' stated in the third prong of the emergency aid doctrine test. "In general, '[p]robable cause means a "fair probability that contraband or evidence of a crime will be found." (Citations omitted). The third prong of the emergency aid doctrine, on the other hand, "asks whether there was some reasonable basis to associate the place searched with the emergency. (Citations omitted.) Thus, the search "of one individual is undertaken for the purpose of facilitating efforts to tend to the possible health needs of others." (Citation omitted.) The difference between exigent circumstances and emergency aid situations is that in the former there is probable cause but no warrant, while in the latter there is no probable cause to justify a warrant and the purpose is not to

arrest, search, or gather evidence. (Citation Omitted.) Because this reasonable basis must approximate probable cause and is used to justify abrogation of Fourth Amendment rights, emergency aid searches should be "'strictly circumscribed by [circumstances] which justify its initiation." (Emphasis added.) (Citations omitted.)

One may reasonably conclude that unless the evidence establishes the elements required for the applicability of an exception, evidence obtained without following the requirements must be suppressed. *State v. Humphrey*, 138 P. 3d 590, 594 (Utah App. 2006).

The burden of proof at the suppression hearing stage of the proceedings is generally preponderance of the evidence. *State v. Rynhart*, 2005 UT 84, 10. In this case, although the legal burden of proof is the lowest legal standard, the trial court erred in applying that standard. The weight of the evidence in the record clearly preponderates against the State's evidence.

This case turns on the question of whether an exception to the warrant requirements can be applied if the police did have 1) an objectively reasonable basis to believe that an emergency exists, and a belief that there is an immediate need⁶ for their assistance for the protection of life.⁷ 2) Their search must not be

⁶ This prong of the exception is arguably the equivalent of exigent circumstance.

⁷ This prong of the exception raises the level of exigent circumstance to exclusively the protection of life as opposed to the dissipation of evidence of a crime. This is

primarily motivated by intent to arrest and seize evidence. 3) There must be some reasonable basis to associate the emergency with the area or place to be searched. That is, there must be a connection with the area to be searched and the emergency. *Davidson*, at ¶12-13.

The mother's concern that her adult son had not contacted her in four days did not raise to the level of an emergency as contemplated by law. Although she reported her son's ongoing health issues, the record does not support her statements with evidence explaining the basis for her opinion and report regarding those issues. The neighbors had not seen the Defendant for two or three days, but none had called law enforcement for a welfare check. There was recent activity around the home including moist dirt, an extension cord, activity on the roof of the home and a light on inside the home. There was no reported sign of injury such as blood etc. No vehicles were present on the property. Objectively observing, no one was home.

The officer did not have an objectively reasonable basis to believe that an emergency existed or that there was an immediate need for assistance for the protection of life. *Prelim* at pages 38-45. The record of the officer's testimony also does not disclose any particular health issue that might have afflicted the Defendant justifying a conclusion that his life was or could have been in danger.

so because the exception is permitting the intrusion into the home of our citizenry.

There was no objective information that suggests that there was an immediate need for assistance to protect life.

The officers did not have a reasonable basis to associate the emergency with the area or place they searched. They did not observe the Defendant lying on the floor inside, nor was there any indication that there was distress or foul play.

There was no indication that there was trouble within the residence. There was silence when the officer knocked – no response from inside. Because there were no sounds inside and evidence of emergency of foul play and no vehicles present on the property, the reasonable conclusion is that no one was home. There is insufficient evidence to conclude otherwise when considering the totality of the circumstances.

It is conceded by Appellant that the officers' motivation in entering the home was not primarily motivated by intent to arrest and seize evidence. They were surprised to observe the plants and equipment within the home. There is nothing in the record of any concern or suspicion of illegal activity at the residence. They were urged to enter the home by the mother of the Appellant. It was her concern that they were addressing, not their own and not those of Appellant's immediate neighbors.

The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution protects '[t]he right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects, against

unreasonable searches and seizures.’” *State v. Friesen*, 1999 UT App 262, 263. Utah likewise recognizes the importance of the 4th Amendment protections. The Supreme Court of the United States has stated: “The touchstone of our analysis under the Fourth Amendment is always ‘the reasonableness in all the circumstances of the particular government invasion of a citizen’s personal security.’” *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 108-09 (1977) (quoting *Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 19 (1968)).

When officers entered the Appellant’s home, they did so outside the protections of the Fourth Amendment and outside the established emergency aid doctrine exception. Their entry, without a warrant, violated his privilege to be secure in his home.

MARSHALLING THE EVIDENCE

The testimony of Officer Rob Johnson at the evidentiary hearing for the Motions to Suppress and to Quash held January 9, 2014 establishes that the officers who responded to the welfare check had no authorization to enter the home. Transcript of Evidentiary Hearing page 11. The following exchange occurred starting at line 7:

Q. . . .With respect to the welfare check, nobody who lived in the home gave you permission to enter the home, did they?

A. No.

...

Q. You crawled through a window, didn't you, to get into the home at that point?

A. Yes.

Q. You didn't have a warrant, did you?

A. No.

Q. Nobody let you inside the home, did they?

A. No.

Q. Nobody opened the door for you to come into the home, did they?

A. No.

Q. There was nobody home, was there?

A. No.

Q. You looked through the windows prior to entering the home, didn't you?

A. Tried. They were pretty well covered. You couldn't see much.

Q. So you really didn't see anything?

A. You could see, yeah, just the light was on in the front room that I ended up crawling through, and really couldn't see anything through it. (Emphasis added.)

Comment: Then the officer testifies that he saw no over-turned furniture or

anything like that; no broken glass; no signs of a break in; no signs that a fight had taken place. Then continuing:

Q. You really didn't see anything that concerned you at that point, did you?

A. Well, yes and no, nothing that I found to be exclusively by itself concerning, but like I mentioned before, there was a light on underneath the home, like an extension cord and a light ran underneath the crawl space. There was some tools there. It looked like somebody had been working on maybe a leaky pipe or something. Then there was a ladder laying against the house, and I did crawl up that ladder and look on top to make sure Mr. Adams wasn't on the roof working on something. There was some tools laying around the AC unit, but they had rust on them, didn't look like anybody had used those tools for quite some time. . . .So no, in and of itself, there was nothing there that I found specifically concerning, no.

Comment: The officer then testifies that he did not smell anything outside the home that concerned him; did not see any signs of forced entry; there were no sounds of distress or any sounds coming from the house. The officer then explains that there were no vehicles at the residence including a motorcycle that the officer believed the Appellant owned.⁸ Continuing at page 15 line 3:

Q. Didn't all the physical evidence you observed prior to entering Mr. Adam's home indicate that nobody was home?

⁸ See *Prelim* at pages 38-45.

A. Yeah. I had no indication that said that he was there.

Q. No one answered the door, did they?

A. No.

...

Q. There was no blood or other indication of any injury?

A. No. Well, the indication was just that his mother and the Big Water Marshal had both stated that he was in poor health, and the mother was used to hearing from him frequently every day or every other day, and hadn't heard from him for several days.

In addition to the testimony evidence, marshaling also includes the recitation of the facts and other content in the Memorandum Decision.

END OF MARSHALLING THE EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT CONTINUED

The testimony preserved in the hearings in this case as well as the rendition of the facts made by the court in denying the Motion to Suppress demonstrates that the investigating officer entered the residence without permission, without observing information that would lead him to be concerned about the preservation of life, and without a warrant. To the officer on the scene, there was no emergency. His actions were based on him being urged by a mistaken third party.

Two of the elements stated in the *Davidson* case are not satisfied. When the

two elements remain unsatisfied, the exception to the warrant requirements known as the 'emergency aid doctrine' is not available to preclude the need to follow the warrant requirements. There was no reason to circumvent getting a warrant. There was no objective evidence of an emergency that required intrusion into the home without a warrant. To believe otherwise would be tantamount to believing that when a citizen is away on vacation or grocery shopping and away from home or angry with one's mother and not calling frequently enough for her, the State should have the exception to the warrant requirement available. The entry of the residence by the officer was not lawful. The evidence obtained through the unlawful entry, should have been suppressed by the trial court.

The 10th Circuit Court of Appeals has stated "[a] warrantless search of a home is presumptively unreasonable, and evidence obtained from such a search is inadmissible, subject only to a few carefully established exceptions." *U.S. v. Harrison*, 639 F3d 1273, 1278 (10th Cir. 2011). In the instant case, the exception fails.

CONCLUSION


Because the court below erred in denying the Motion to Suppress Evidence in this case, the Defendant/Appellant has been wrongfully convicted of a crime in this State. His conviction by conditional plea should be reversed.

Because the evidence from the first warrantless entry must be suppressed, it

cannot be used as a basis to find probable cause for the resulting search warrants.


The convictions based on evidence obtained during the initial improper search and resulting warrants should be reversed.