2016

**State of Utah, Plaintiff/Appellee v. Timothy Joseph Adams,  
Defendant/Appellant**

Utah Court of Appeals

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

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

Defendant argues that Deputy Johnson's warrantless entry into his home violated his Fourth Amendment rights, and that the trial court thus erred when it denied his motion to suppress the fruit of that entry. Specifically, Defendant contends that the trial court erred in ruling that the emergency aid doctrine applied, asserting that Deputy Johnson did not have an objectively reasonable basis to believe that an emergency existed. Defendant's claim lacks merit.

The Fourth Amendment protects an individual's right to be secure in his home against unreasonable searches and seizures. Under the Fourth Amendment, warrantless entries into private homes are presumed unreasonable. But that presumption is rebutted if exigent circumstances reasonably support the entry.

One such exigent circumstance is defined by the emergency aid doctrine. In *Salt Lake City v. Davidson*, 2000 UT App 12, 994 P.2d 1283, this Court articulated a three-part test which conditioned emergency aid entries on the presence of life-threatening injuries and the absence of improper police motive. But in *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398 (2006), the United States Supreme Court rejected that test, holding that an officer can make a warrantless entry into a person's home so long as he has an objectively reasonable basis to believe that a person within the house is in need of immediate aid.

Here, the record supports the trial court's ruling that Deputy Johnson's entry into Defendant's home was justified under the emergency aid doctrine. Defendant's mother requested a welfare check on her 65-year-old son because she had not heard from him in several days and he was in poor health. When Deputy Johnson arrived at Defendant's home to conduct the check, he saw signs that someone was home, but no one answered the door. And the neighbors had not seen Defendant for days. These circumstances provided Deputy Johnson with an objectively reasonable basis to believe that Defendant was in need of aid. Thus, the trial court correctly ruled that Deputy Johnson's warrantless entry was lawful under the emergency aid doctrine.



## ARGUMENT

### I.

#### **DEPUTY JOHNSON'S WARRANTLESS ENTRY INTO DEFENDANT'S HOME WAS JUSTIFIED UNDER THE EMERGENCY AID DOCTRINE**

Defendant argues that the trial court erred when it relied on the emergency aid exception to the Fourth Amendment warrant requirement to uphold Deputy Johnson's warrantless entry into his house. Br. Aplt. 15. Defendant argues that the emergency aid exception does not apply because Deputy Johnson did not have an "objectively reasonable basis to believe that an emergency existed or that there was an immediate need for assistance for the protection of life." Br. Aplt. 13. Thus, Defendant argues, Deputy Johnson's entry violated the Fourth Amendment, and the trial court erred in denying his motion to suppress the fruits of that entry. Br. Aplt. 19. Defendant's claim lacks merit.

#### **A. Emergency aid entries are governed by the test articulated in *Brigham City v. Stuart*, which abrogated the test adopted in *Salt Lake City v. Davidson*.**

The "touchstone of . . . the Fourth Amendment" is reasonableness. *Pennsylvania v. Mimms*, 434 U.S. 106, 108-109 (1977). Under the Fourth Amendment, a warrantless search inside a home is presumptively unreasonable. *Groh v. Ramirez*, 540 U.S. 551, 559 (2004) (quoting *Payton v. New York*, 445 U.S. 573, 586 (1980)). But that presumption is not absolute. In some cases, "the exigencies of the situations [may] make the needs of law

enforcement so compelling that the warrantless search is objectively reasonable." *Mincey v. Arizona*, 437 U.S. 385, 393-394 (1978)(quotations omitted). The United States Supreme Court has identified several circumstances that justify warrantless searches or entries under the "exigent circumstances" exception. Such circumstances include when police enter a home while in "hot pursuit" of a fleeing suspect, *United States v. Santana*, 427 U.S. 38, 42-43 (1976); when police enter a home to prevent the imminent destruction of evidence, *Ker v. California*, 374 U.S. 23, 39-40 (1963); or when police search the home of an arrestee for persons "posing a danger to those on the arrest scene." *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325, 334 (1990) (protective sweep).

The United States Supreme Court has recognized the need to render emergency aid as another exigent circumstance justifying a warrantless entry or search. *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 547 U.S. 398, 403 (2009). The emergency aid doctrine allows police officers warrantless entry into a home to render "emergency assistance to an injured occupant or to protect an occupant from imminent injury." *Id.* This exception recognizes that an officer's role extends beyond that of a crime fighter into one of a community caretaker—conducting "preventative patrols," aiding "individuals who are in danger of physical harm," "creat[ing] and maintain[ing] a feeling of

security in the community,” and “provid[ing] other services on an emergency basis.” 3 Wayne R. Lafave, *Search and Seizure: A Treatise on the Fourth Amendment* §6.6 (5th ed.) (citation omitted); *see also United States v. Coccia*, 446 F.3d 233 (1st Cir. 2006) (recognizing officers “are expected to aid those in distress, combat actual hazards, prevent potential hazards from materializing and provide an infinite variety of services to preserve and protect public safety” (quotation and citation omitted)); *United States v. King*, 990 F.2d 1552 (10th Cir. 1993) (recognizing officers may legitimately seize an individual “to ensure the safety of the public and/or the individual, regardless of any suspected criminal activity”). The exception recognizes that when responding as a community caretaker, “the business of policemen. . . is to act” quickly and “not to speculate” because “[p]eople could well die in emergencies if police tried to act with the calm deliberation associated with the judicial process.” *Wayne v. United States*, 318 F.2d 205, 212 (D.C. Cir. 1963).

In asserting that the trial court erred in applying the emergency aid doctrine here, Defendant cites *Salt Lake City v. Davidson*, 2000 UT App 12, 994 P.2d 1283, for the applicable test. Br. Appt. 10-11. In *Davidson*, this Court held that a warrantless search is “lawful under the emergency aid doctrine” if the following three-part test is met: “(1) police have an objectively



reasonable basis to believe that an emergency exists and believe there is an immediate need for their assistance for the protection of life”; “(2) [t]he search is not primarily motivated by intent to arrest and seize evidence”; and “(3) [t]here is some reasonable basis to associate the emergency with the area or place to be searched.” 2000 UT App 12, ¶¶12-13. Defendant’s reliance on *Davidson* is misplaced.

The Utah Supreme Court adopted the three-part *Davidson* test in *Brigham City v. Stuart*, 2005 UT 13, ¶ 23, 122 P.3d 506 (“*Stuart*”). But the United States Supreme Court rejected that test on certiorari. *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. 398. The high Court held that a warrantless entry “to render emergency assistance” is justified so long as officers have “an objectively reasonable basis” to believe that a person is “seriously injured or threatened with such injury” inside the house. 547 U.S. at 403, 406; *accord Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 47. In so holding, the United States Supreme Court expressly rejected Utah’s motivation and “protection of life” requirements.

The Supreme Court noted that it has “repeatedly rejected” a test that examines officer motivation. *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 404; *see also United States v. Najjar*, 451 F.3d 710, 718 (2006) (recognizing *Brigham City*’s rejection of the motivation requirement). It explained that an “action is ‘reasonable’ under the Fourth Amendment, regardless of the individual officer’s state of

mind, 'as long as the circumstances, viewed *objectively*, justify [the] action.'" *Id.* at 404-405 (quoting *Scott v. United States*, 436 U.S. 128, 138 (1978) (brackets in original)). Simply put, an "officer's subjective motivation is irrelevant." *Id.* at 404.

The Supreme Court also rejected Utah's strict "protection of life" requirement, holding that "[n]othing in the Fourth Amendment" requires police officers to wait until someone is "'unconscious' or 'semi-conscious' or worse before entering." *Id.* at 406. As explained in *Michigan v. Fisher*, "[o]fficers do not need ironclad proof of 'a likely serious, life-threatening' injury to invoke the emergency aid exception." 558 U.S. 45, 49 (2009). Indeed, "[t]he only injury police could confirm in *Brigham City* was the bloody lip they saw the juvenile inflict upon the adult." *Id.* Indeed, the "role of a peace officer includes preventing violence and restoring order, not simply rendering first aid to casualties; an officer is not like a boxing (or hockey) referee, poised to stop a bout only if it becomes too one-sided." *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 406; accord *State v. Anderson*, 2015 UT 90, ¶¶22, 24, 362 P.3d 1232 (recognizing that previous "life or limb" standard abrogated by *Brigham City* and *Fisher*).

This Court in *Davidson* held that an officer's belief that emergency assistance is needed "must approximate probable cause." 2000 UT App 12,

¶15. But that holding too is incorrect. *Brigham City* did not require belief akin to probable cause for officers to enter a house under the emergency aid doctrine. *Id.* at 406. As noted, all that the Court required is “an *objectively reasonable basis* for believing that an occupant is seriously injured or imminently threatened with such injury.” *Id.* at 400 (emphasis added). This proximates the reasonable suspicion standard applied by the United States Supreme Court in other cases involving safety concerns. *See, e.g., Terry v. Ohio*, 392 U.S. 1, 27 (1968) (holding that “the issue is whether a reasonably prudent [person] in the circumstances would be warranted in the belief that his safety or that of others was in danger”); *Michigan v. Long*, 463 U.S. 1032, 1050 (1983) (same); *Maryland v. Buie*, 494 U.S. 325, 336 (1990) (holding that protective sweep must be “justified by a reasonable, articulable suspicion that the house is harboring a person posing a danger to those on the arrest scene”). The Tenth Circuit Court of Appeals agrees. *See United States v. Gordon*, 741 F.3d 64, 70 (10th Cir. 2014) (recognizing that “[o]fficers do not need probable cause if they face exigent circumstances in an emergency” aid situation); *United States v. Gambino-Zavala*, 539 F.3d 1221, 1225 (10th Cir. 2008) (holding that emergency aid doctrine’s reasonable belief standard “is more lenient than . . . probable cause.”); *Najar*, 451 F.3d at 718 (observing that

*Brigham City* did not require “probable cause in this type of exigent circumstances”).

- B. Given the totality of the circumstances, Deputy Johnson had an objectively reasonable basis for believing that Defendant was in need of emergency assistance.**

As with reasonableness in any other search case, whether an officer’s belief was objectively reasonable is based on the totality of the circumstances known at the time—“guided by the realities of the situation presented by the record from the viewpoint of prudent, cautious and trained officers.” *Najar*, 451 F.3d at 718 (quotation and citation omitted); *see Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 406 (holding that officer’s emergency aid entry depends on “the circumstances, viewed objectively”) (quoting *Scott v. United States*, 436 U.S. 128, 138 (1978); *City of Orem v. Henrie*, 868 P.2d 1384, 1388 (Utah Ct. App. 1994) (determination of exigency based on totality of the circumstances”); The reasonableness of the officer’s belief should not be viewed in “hindsight.” *Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49. All that is required is that the officer has “‘an objectively reasonable basis for believing that medical assistance was needed, or persons were in danger.’” *Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49 (quoting *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 406, *Mincey*, 437 U.S. at 394). Thus, even though a non-exigent reason may exist, that alone is insufficient to render an officer’s belief unreasonable. *See Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49 (“Only when an

apparent threat has become an actual harm can officers rule out innocuous explanations for ominous circumstances.”).

Deputy Johnson’s concern here that Defendant needed immediate assistance was objectively reasonable. Deputy Johnson, “guided by the realities of the situation,” acted as any prudent, cautious, trained officer would in these circumstances. *Najar*, 451 F.3d at 718. Deputy Johnson knew that Defendant was in his mid-sixties and in poor health. R357:15-17. He also knew that no one had seen or heard from him in three days—which was unusual because Defendant spoke to his mother “almost daily.” R356:34-35, 37; R357:15-17. Deputy Johnson observed signs that someone was home, yet no one responded to his knocks or calls into the house, and Defendant’s mother was adamant that Defendant might need medical assistance. R356:35-37; R314. In Deputy Johnson’s experience, similar situations led to finding individuals who were unconscious or dead. R356:47.

With this perspective and these facts, Deputy Johnson’s belief was objectively reasonable that Defendant was inside his home in need of medical assistance. *Cf. Anderson*, 2015 UT 90, ¶¶28-29 (officer’s belief reasonable that motorist may need assistance where motorist pulled over with emergency hazard lights on, on a very cold night in late December)



*Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49 (officer responding to 911 call saw blood drops on truck in driveway and reasonably believed emergency occurring); *United States v. Black*, 482 F.3d 1035, 1039-1040 (9th Cir. 2006) (entry into apartment reasonable where 911 call described domestic violence but no person responded at home); *State v. Vallasenor-Meza*, 2005 UT App 65, ¶19, 108 P.3d 123 (officers reasonably believed, based on 911 call from victim's brother, that victim was potentially injured and that immediate intervention was necessary).

Defendant contends, however, that Deputy Johnson had no reasonable basis to enter because he "did not observe Defendant lying on the floor inside" the house, "nor was there any indication" of "distress or foul play." Br. Aplt. 14. But "[r]easonable belief does not require absolute certainty." *Gambino-Zavala*, 539 F.3d at 1225. And for good reason. Limiting the exception to only when an officer actually sees an injury, distress, or foul play would hamstring law enforcement's ability to protect and serve—as persons who need help are often not in a place where they can be seen. *See e.g., State v. Yoder*, 935 P.2d 534, 539 (Utah Ct. App. 1997) (little girl hidden in defendant's balcony closet, naked and bound with tape); *People v. Mitchell*, 39 N.Y.2d 173, 383 N.Y.S.2d 246 (N.Y. App. 1976) (abrogated by

Brigham City, 547 U.S. at 402) (missing hotel maid found dead, hidden in laundry basket inside defendant's hotel room closet).

Furthermore, Deputy Johnson was not required to exhaust all possibilities before looking for Defendant inside the home, as "ironclad proof" of "a likely serious, life-threatening" injury is not necessary to invoke the emergency aid exception. *Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49 (quotation omitted); *Anderson*, 2015 U.T. 90 at ¶29 (even though motorist may have had a mundane reason for pulling over, officer "would have reason to be concerned and to at least stop to determine whether assistance is needed."); see also *Wayne*, 318 F.2d at 212 (police must act swiftly in emergency aid situations, as "people could well die in emergencies" if officers act too deliberately). As stated, all that is required is "'an objectively reasonable basis for believing' that medical assistance was needed, or persons were in danger." *Fisher*, 558 U.S. at 49 (quoting *Brigham City*, 547 U.S. at 406). And here the circumstances indicated that Defendant was potentially in need of medical assistance and that immediate intervention was necessary. See *Najar*, 451 F.3d at 716-17, 720 (warrantless entry reasonable where someone at Najar's address called 911, hung-up, and dispatch was then unable to reconnect); *Anderson*, 2015 UT 90, ¶28 (officer's belief reasonable given the seriousness of the perceived emergency).